## No. <u>91378-1</u>

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(Court of Appeals No. 45563-3-II)

CONCRETE NOR'WEST, a division of MILES SAND & GRAVEL COMPANY and 4M2K, LLC,

Appellants,

v.

WESTERN WASHINGTON GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD; WHATCOM COUNTY; and FRIENDS OF NOOKSACK SAMISH WATERSHED,

Respondents.

## CONCRETE NOR'WEST AND 4M2K, LLC'S PETITION FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW

GORDON THOMAS HONEYWELL LLP Margaret Y. Archer, WSBA No. 21224 William T. Lynn, WSBA No. 07887 Attorneys for Petitioners Concrete Nor'West and 4M2K, LLC

Suite 2100 1201 Pacific Avenue P.O. Box 1157 Tacoma, WA 98401-1157 (253) 620-6500

TATE OF WASHING MAR -

## ORIGINAL

## **

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioners are Concrete Nor'West, a division of Miles Sand and Gravel Company, and 4M2K, LLC (collectively referred to as "CNW").

## II. CITATION TO COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

CNW seeks review of the Published Opinion of the Court of Appeals, Division II filed on February 3, 2015. This decision affirmed the Final Decision and Order ("FDO") of the Western Washington Growth Management Hearings Board ("Board") issued on September 25, 2012 under Case No. 12-2-0007. A copy of Division II's Opinion is in Appendix A at pages A-1 through A-16. A copy of the Board's FDO is in Appendix B at pages B-1 through B-16.<sup>1</sup>

## III. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Did Division II err by concluding that neither the Growth Management Act ("GMA") nor the Whatcom County Comprehensive Plan (the "Plan") impose a duty to designate lands as Mineral Resource Lands under an owner-initiated amendment application where (a) the lands satisfy all the Plan's designation criteria and further Plan goals, and (b) the annual amendment process established that the lands have known mineral resources of long-term commercial significance?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> This is an appeal under the Administrative Procedure Act, chapter 34.05 RCW. If review is accepted, this Court will review the Board's FDO directly. *King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd.*, 142 Wn.2d 543, 553, 14 P.3d 133 (2000).

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

CNW is a supplier of aggregate and ready mixed concrete, and operates a sand and gravel mining operation on a 180-acre site in Whatcom County. (AR 222, 239-40, 312, 396-98.) This appeal involves CNW's request to <u>designate</u> an additional 280 acres to Whatcom County's Mineral Resource Lands ("MRL") overlay through an owner application to amend the County's Comprehensive Plan Zoning Map.

The County's goals and policies regarding designation and preservation of natural resource lands, including mineral resource lands, are at Chapter 8 of its Plan. (AR 831-65.) Mineral resource lands are nonrenewable resources that are found on a specific site and cannot be moved. Thus, the Plan goals and policies address the substantial public interest to identify such lands and protect them from incompatible land uses so as to sustain and enhance the mineral resource industry that is critical to the local and state economy. This includes the stated policy to designate a 50year supply of mineral resource lands. (AR 855.) The County does not dispute that it has fallen far short of its goal (AR 461), and that substantial additional designations are required to meet demand (AR 854).

The Plan also acknowledges that there is a public interest to ensure mining is conducted so as to minimize environmental and other impacts. The Plan also includes goals and policies to address these competing

- 2 -

interests. (See AR 846-58.)

More specifically, the Plan policies establish a balanced two-step review system. To ensure that MRLs are identified and preserved for future use, the Plan requires only a generalized and top-level scrutiny of environmental and other impacts at the designation stage. Before actual mining may occur, the Plan's second step requires a more rigorous and detailed review in a subsequent public permitting process that includes public participation. (*See* Goal 8P and implementing policies at AR 855.)

In light of this established two-step process, approval of CNW's application would not confer to CNW a right to mine any of the land designated MRL, but would only allow CNW a chance to apply to extract minerals. Actual mining could not occur unless and until a mining permit was issued following detailed, public County review and demonstration that impacts are adequately mitigated.<sup>2</sup> (*See* AR 853-58. *See also* CP 305-15, 338-39, 344-45.)

The Plan includes MRL Designation Criteria that implement the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Prior to this appeal, the Board expressly acknowledged the two-step review system established by the County's Plan to address competing interests and goals, and found the bifurcated review to comply with GMA requirements. At the County's urging, the Board has twice interpreted the Plan to defer site-specific environmental review to the public permit process, so that designation decisions – intended only to conserve MRLs, not authorize mining – are based on more generalized criteria and review intended to select and preserve mineral-rich lands. *See Franz v. Whatcom County Council*, WWGMHB Case No. 05-2-0011 (FDO, September 19, 2005) 2005 WL 2458412 (CP 297-322); *Wells v. Whatcom County*, WWGMHB Case No. 97-2-0030c (FDO January 16, 1998) 1998 WL 43206 (CP 330-341).

first phase of the Plan-established bifurcated review process. The criteria set the quantity and quality of mineral deposits required for designation and also set limits to exclude lands within certain proximity to wellhead protection areas and residentially zoned or developed area. (AR 857-58.)

There is no dispute that CNW's application satisfies all the designation criteria stated in Chapter 8 of the Plan.<sup>3</sup> (AR 1183, 1186.) The County's Planning Staff found that all of the criteria were satisfied, that the application was consistent with the County's goals and policies and should be approved. (AR 224-252.) The County Planning Commission then reviewed CNW's application against the applicable criteria, considered community comments in a public hearing and also recommended approval of the MRL designation. (AR 276-79.)

Though the MRL criteria were satisfied, the County Council rejected CNW's application by a 3 to 3 vote. (AR 288-91, 295-96.) Only Council members who voted for the amendment referenced the MRL designation criteria. (AR 289-90.) The three Council members voting against did not discuss, much less apply the MRL designation criteria, and disregarded the Plan's bifurcated review process. Instead, they rejected

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Professionally prepared studies demonstrated that the lands contain sufficient quantity and quality minerals of long-term significance for the extraction of minerals, (AR 297-309, 310-356, 377-396, 793-810.) The application was also supported by scientific study evaluating the proximity of groundwater tables to proposed mining, pertinent aquifer characteristics and mitigation measures that may be taken to avoid or minimize impacts to groundwater. (AR 311-18, 363-376, 396-405.)

CNW's application based upon public opposition, speculation about potential impacts and the desire for more detailed environmental review, even though an MRL designation confers no right to mine and <u>all</u> potential impacts would be thoroughly reviewed (and necessarily mitigated) before a mining permit could issue. (*See* AR 289-91.)

CNW appealed to the Board. (AR 1-11.) The County did not claim that the MRL designation were not satisfied, but instead argued that the criteria are <u>irrelevant</u>. (Record of 8/28/12 Board Proceeding ("RP") at p. 55, 88.) The County stated:

> "Even if a site meets all the designation criteria in the CP [Comprehensive Plan], neither the GMA nor the County CP place a duty upon the County to redesignate the land to MRL upon the request of the property owner." (AR 1005.)

The Board accepted the argument stating that "the fatal flaw in Petitioner's argument is the lack of language in any of the cited Goals/Policies or the designation criteria that require the County to designate when the designation criteria are met." (FDO at Appendix B-12; AR 1186.) The Board held that neither the GMA nor the Plan imposed a duty to designate the qualified MRL's identified in CNW's application and, thus, the GMA was not violated.<sup>4</sup> (*Id.* at B-13–B-14; AR 1187-88).)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The Board relied on this Court's decision in *Stafne v. Snohomish County*, 174 Wn.2d 24, 271 P.3d 868 (2012), which ultimately held that challenges to a decision rejecting a comprehensive plan amendment may not be had under the Land Use Petition Act

Division II of the Court of Appeals affirmed. The court concluded that the because the GMA goal to sustain and enhance resource industries is only one of 13 competing goals, the GMA imposes no mandate to designate lands with known mineral resource deposits. (Opinion at Appendix A-10, A-14.) Because the Plan similarly contains competing goals (e.g. sustain and enhance mining and protect the environment and surrounding community), the court also opined that the Council retained discretion to defer to proffered environmental and community concerns even though the MRL designation criteria were met, and even though the County's bifurcated review process would ensure that the environmental impacts would be addressed at the permitting stage. (Id. at A-8-A-15.) The competing Plan goals and the absence of an affirmative statement that "any parcel satisfying the designation criteria must be designated MRL," served to relieve the Council of any obligation to designate qualified lands. (Id. at A-9.)

#### V. ARGUMENT IN SUPPORT OF REVIEW

This Court should accept review because Division II's decision

<sup>(&</sup>quot;LUPA"), but must exclusively be through a timely petition to the Growth Boards pursuant to the GMA. *Id.* at 11. In addressing this question of jurisdiction under LUPA, the *Stafne* Court stated that, absent duty created by the GMA or other law, neither the Board nor a court can grant relief from a discretionary legislative act. 174 Wn.2d at 38.

The *Stafne* Court was not, however, asked to determine if there was a duty to adopt the particular application appealed in light of relevant standards or even to evaluate the merits of the application, nor did it address the GMA mandate at RCW 37.70A.120 that counties perform planning activities in conformance with their comprehensive plans.

conflicts with this Court's decision in *King County v. Central Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd.*, which held that the GMA does create a legislative mandate to conserve natural resource land and thus imposed a duty to designate and conserve such lands to assure the maintenance and enhancement of resource-based industries. 142 Wn.2d 543, 558, 562, 14 P.3d 133 (2000). This GMA mandate was incorporated into the County's Plan. The Council was required pursuant to RCW 36.70A.120 to act "in conformity with its comprehensive plan," but failed when it refused to designate MRL CNW's land with known mineral resource deposits. Review is also warranted because the case presents issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

#### A. The GMA Imposes A Continuing Mandate To Preserve And Protect Known Mineral Resource Lands.

The GMA was enacted to address public concerns about increasing development pressures, partially caused by rapid population growth, and to provide a mechanism for coordinated land use planning pursuant to common goals "expressing the public's interest in conservation and wise use of land." RCW 36.70A.010; *King County, supra,* 142 Wn.2d at 546. The GMA requires cities and counties to adopt comprehensive plans and development regulations consistent with the GMA's stated goals and requirements. *Id.* at 546. *See also* RCW 36.70A.040, .020.

Through the GMA, the Legislature also made designation of natural resource lands a priority in comprehensive planning. A stated GMA goal is to

> Maintain and enhance natural resource-based industries, including productive timber, agriculture and fishing industries. Encourage the conservation of productive forest lands and productive agricultural lands, and discourage incompatible uses.

RCW 36.70A.020(8). To meet that goal, the GMA directs that counties "shall designate where appropriate" agricultural lands, forest lands and mineral resource lands that "are not already characterized by urban growth and that have long term significance." RCW 36.70A.170. The GMA further requires counties to adopt development regulations that will assure the conservation resource lands designated and assure that uses of adjacent lands do not interfere with continued resource industry use. RCW 36.70A.060(1)(a).

To support its decision, Division II stated that the natural resource goal is only one of 13 GMA goals with no greater priority than any other. (Opinion at Appendix A-5, A-10.) Division II opines that, since the GMA only requires designation of mineral resource lands "where appropriate," the Council is left with discretion to reconcile, weigh and prioritize the competing GMA goals as it chooses. Contrary to Division II's interpretation, the GMA natural resource goal is a legislative priority and

- 8 -

the GMA does impose a duty on a planning county.

In the context of agricultural lands, this Court has construed the natural resource goal and the associated implementing GMA provisions to impose "<u>a duty to designate</u> and conserve agricultural lands to assure the maintenance and enhancement of the agricultural industry." *King County, supra,* 142 Wn.2d at 558 (emphasis added).

When read together, RCW 36.70A.020(8), 060(1), and .170 evidence a legislative mandate for the conservation of agricultural land.

Id. at 562.<sup>5</sup> Accord, Yakima County v. Eastern Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs Bd., 146 Wn. App. 679, 688, 192 P.3d 12 (2008); Lewis County v. Western Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd., 157 Wn.2d 488, 504, n. 12, 139 P.3d 1096 (2006).

This Court identified this GMA mandate, noting the GMA "requirements that local governments *designate* agricultural land and *conserve* such land in order to *maintain and enhance* the agricultural industry." 142 Wn. 2d at 558.

Although the planning goals are not listed in any priority order in the Act, the verbs of the agricultural provisions mandate specific, direct action. <u>The County has a duty to designate</u> and conserve

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> In *King County*, this Court concurred with the Board's interpretation that these GMA provisions "create an agricultural conservation imperative <u>that imposes an affirmative duty on local governments to designate</u> and conserve agricultural lands to assure maintenance and enhancement of the agricultural resource industry." 142 Wn.2d at 554.

agricultural lands to assure the maintenance and enhancement of the agricultural industry. (Emphasis added.)

*Id.* The Legislature used <u>identical language</u> to require designation and protection of mineral resource lands. Thus, there is necessarily the same mandate to designate mineral land.<sup>6</sup>

Consistent with this Court's interpretation of the GMA provisions governing natural resource lands, the Board has stated that "preservation and protection of known mineral resource lands is a primary objective of the Growth Management Act," and the GMA "mandate[s] the protection of known and valuable mineral resources." *Spokane Rock Products, Inc. v. Spokane County,* EWGMHB Case No. 02-01-0003 (FDO, July 19, 2002)

at Appendix C-7, 8. The rationale for this mandate is well-founded:

One critical reason is the fact that resource lands are non-renewable resources. Mineral lands "...cannot be re-created if they are lost to urban development or mismanaged. In addition, "...mineral resources are site-specific and not subject to relocation." The location of these resources is critical [to] the economic viability of mining operations.

Id. at C-7, quoting Spokane County Comprehensive Plan.

A county's obligation does not end with the initial designation.

The GMA directs comprehensive review of prior designations and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> The Board has held that the GMA goal to maintain and enhance natural resource-based industries applies with equal force to the mineral resource industry and mineral resource lands and that RCW 36.70A.020(8) cannot be construed to provide agriculture and forestry a superior position relative to mining. *See Wells, supra,* at CP 338.

implementing development regulations at specific time intervals, RCW 36.70A.130, .131. The obligation to review and revise is not limited to those set review periods. The GMA directs that the initial designations and other plan provisions "shall be subject to continuing review and evaluation" and, if necessary, revised. RCW 36.70A.130(1). The GMA also authorizes municipalities to amend their adopted comprehensive plans annually (though annual amendment is not required) and directs local governments to adopt a public process for the consideration of proposed amendments. RCW 36.70A.130(2)(a). The GMA mandated "continuing review and evaluation" of previously adopted plan provisions is inherently required in this annual process, at least with regard to the specific plan provisions for which amendment is proposed.

The Legislature did more than impose a mandate to preserve and protect resource lands. It directed Washington's Commerce Department to adopt guidelines to help counties achieve the GMA mandate. RCW 36.70A.050. The legislature provided that these guidelines "shall be the minimum guidelines that apply to all jurisdictions, but shall allow for regional differences." RCW 36.70A.050(3). The guidelines have thus been construed to set the minimum standards to be applied by local governments. *Friends of Pierce County v. City of Bonney Lake*, CPSGMHB Case No. 12-2-002c (FDO, July 9, 2012), 2012 WL 3060647

- 11 -

17, citing Lewis County v. Western Wash. Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd., 157 Wn.2d 488, 139 P.3d 1096 (2006).

The Department minimum guidelines for mineral resource lands are at WAC 365-190-070. They do not distinguish owner-initiated requests from other review<sup>7</sup> Regardless of the manner or time in which resource designations are proposed, the minimum guidelines provide that "[c]ounties and cities <u>must</u> identify and classify mineral resource land from which extraction of minerals occurs or can be anticipated." WAC 365-190-070(2). Even more significant, WAC 365-190-070(4)(a) directs:

> Counties and cities <u>must designate known mineral</u> <u>deposits so that access to mineral resources of long-</u> <u>term commercial significance is not knowingly</u> <u>precluded</u>. Priority land use for mineral extraction should be retained for all designated mineral resources. (Emphasis added.)

Once lands are known to have mineral deposits consistent with the guidelines, the GMA makes designation mandatory.

## B. The GMA Mandate Is Acknowledged and Incorporated Into The County's Comprehensive Plan and the Plan Provisions Must Be Construed In The Context Of That Mandate.

The County addresses mineral resource lands in Chapter 8 of its

Plan. AR 831-65. Division II focused upon the existence of competing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The only respect in which private amendment applications are treated differently is that, with private applications, the County is not required to approach the request as a county-wide or regional process. WAC 365-190-070. That private applications are noted in this regard, however, confirms that the minimum guidelines are not limited to county-initiated designations, but apply to designations by private application as well.

goals to conclude there was no mandate to designate lands that satisfy the

MRL criteria.

But, judicial interpretation of this Chapter should be conducted in

light of the GMA mandate to conserve and protect resource lands and to

maintain and enhance resource-based industries, especially considering the

expressly stated purpose the Plan's Resource Lands Chapter:

This Chapter contains goals and policies designed to identify and protect important natural resources lands found in Whatcom County as defined in RCW 36.70A. The development of these goals and policies is necessary to ensure the provision of land suitable for long-term farming, forestry and mineral extraction so the production of food, fiber, wood products, and minerals can be maintained as an important part of our economic base through the planning period. Without protection of these resource lands, some of the land could be inappropriately or prematurely converted into land uses incompatible with long-term resource production. The premature conversion of resource lands into incompatible uses places additional constraints on remaining resource lands and can lead to further erosion of the resource land base. (Emphasis added.)

(AR 831.) Further, the resource lands goals and policies were developed:

- to be consistent with and help achieve the state-wide GMA goals to "maintain and enhance" natural resource-based industries
- to implement County-Wide Planning Policies which express a desire for the county to become a government of rural lands and sustainable resource based industries
- to fulfill the citizens' vision of Whatcom County where resource based industries are widely practiced and encouraged."

(*Id.*) Thus, the Plan states that its goals and policies support the GMA goal to maintain and enhance resource based industries (RCW 36.70A.020(8)) "by identifying, designating, and protecting productive resource lands from incompatible uses, thereby helping to maintain the county's important natural resource based industries." (AR 832.)

The Plan acknowledges the GMA requirements for mineral resource lands at AR 846:

One of the goals of the Growth Management Act is to maintain and enhance resource based industries, including the aggregate and mineral resource industries, with the purpose of assuring the long-term conservation of resource lands for future use. The goals and policies in this section support that goal. In addition, the Act mandates that each county shall classify mineral resource lands and then designate and conserve appropriate areas that are not already characterized by urban growth and that have longterm commercial significance.

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