Received Washington State Supreme Court

MAR 3 1 2015

Ronald R. Carpenter

No. 903678-1

91378-1

THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

CONCRETE NOR'WEST, a division of MILES SAND & GRAVEL COMPANY and 4M2K, LLC,

Petitioners,

v.

WESTERN WASHINGTON GROWTH MANAGEMENT HEARINGS BOARD; WHATCOM COUNTY; and FRIENDS OF NOOKSACK SAMISH WATERSHED,

Respondents.

RESPONDENT WHATCOM COUNTY'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

DAVID S. McEACHRAN
Whatcom County Prosecuting Attorney
By KAREN N. FRAKES
Civil Deputy Prosecutor
Attorney for Whatcom County
WSBA #13600
311 Grand Avenue, Suite 201
Bellingham, WA 98225
(360)676-6784

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

E. ARGUMENT IN OPPOSITION TO DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

CNW's Petition for Review fails to offer adequate grounds and supporting argument to justify discretionary review under RAP 13.4(b). Under RAP 13.4(b), this Court will grant review only:

- (1) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) if the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) if a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) if the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

CNW asserts two bases for acceptance of review: 1) that the Court of Appeals decision affirming the Board's decision is in conflict with the Supreme Court's decision in *King Cnty. v. Cent. Puget Sound Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 142 Wash. 2d 543, 14 P.3d 133 (2000); and 2) that it presents issues of substantial public interest.

At the outset, it is important to place this case in the proper context. This case involves the annual review of amendments to the County's comprehensive plan. Throughout its argument, CNW confuses the County's obligations during the initial designation and periodic

reviews of MRLs, under RCW 36.70A.170, RCW 36.70A.130(1) and RCW 36.70A.131, with its obligations after the comprehensive plan is in place and compliant with the GMA.

At this latter point, there is no weighing of GMA planning goals or any requirement for additional designation under the MRL provisions in the GMA. Instead, the issue during the annual review is very straightforward and focused. The question is simply whether the comprehensive plan language contains a mandate or a duty to take the requested action. *See*, *Stafne*, 174 Wash. 2d at 38.

CNW compounds this confusion by interjecting issues into its arguments that were not raised before the Board. CNW had the obligation to frame its issues and allege specific violations of the GMA when it filed its petition before the Board. RCW 36.70A.290(1). It cannot now introduce new issues and allege new violations of the GMA that it did not raise before the Board. RCW 34.05.554; *Wells v. W. Washington Growth Mgmt. Hearings Bd.*, 100 Wash. App. 657, 683-84, 997 P.2d 405 (2000); *See*, RAP 2.5. Its argument that there is a "continuing" duty to designate all land with known mineral resource deposits "inherently required in this annual process," based on RCW 36.70A.130(1) and the guidelines in the WAC, in addition to being meritless, was never raised before the Board

and cannot be raised now. Furthermore, any issue of whether the County's comprehensive plan somehow adopted this non-existent mandate was likewise not before the Board and cannot be raised for the first time in this proceeding.

1. The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with King County v. Central Growth Management Hearings Board.

The Court of Appeals decision does not conflict with *King Cnty. v. Central Growth Mgmt. Hrgs. Bd.*, 142 Wash. 2d 543, 14 P.3d133 (2000). In *King Cnty.*, the Supreme Court addressed the issue of whether "active recreational facilities" could be legally allowed on GMA designated agriculture land. In reaching its decision, the court compared the GMA provisions relating to agriculture to those relating to recreational land. Id. at 556-558. The court concluded that, unlike the recreational land provisions, the obligation to designate agricultural land under RCW 36.70A.170(1)(a), the duty to adopt development regulations to assure the conservation of designated lands, and the goal to conserve agricultural land under RCW 37.70A.020(6) together mandate specific, direct action. Id. at 558. With this background, the court held that, after properly designating agricultural lands, King County could not then undermine the

¹ It is very telling that CNW never relied on this case in its substantive arguments in any of the multiple proceedings below.

Act's agricultural conservation mandate by adopting amendments that allow the conversion of entire parcels of prime agricultural soils to an unrelated recreational use. *Id.* at 561.

King County has no bearing on the issues in this case. The present case does not involve the County's duty to designate MRLs under RCW 36.70A.170(c) or the County's duty to adopt development regulations under RCW 36.70A.060(1), and it certainly does not involve a net loss of designated MRL. Instead, it involves the County's obligation to act in conformity with its comprehensive plan during the annual review of proposed comprehensive plan amendments. The decision that is in fact pertinent to the issues in this case is Stafne v. Snohomish County, 174 Wn.2d 24, 271 P.3d 868 (2012). The present case is simply an application of Stafne to a very specific set of facts pertaining only to Whatcom County.

Prior to *Stafne*, a long line of growth board cases found that the growth management hearings board does not have subject matter jurisdiction when a local jurisdiction fails to adopt a proposed amendment during its annual review process because such amendments are not required by the GMA. *See, Chimacum Heights LLC v. Jefferson County*,

12

WWGMHB Case No. 09-2-0007 (Order on Dispositive Motions, p. 3, 5/20/2009); SR 9/US 2 LLC v. Snohomish County, CPSGMHB Case No. 08-3-0004 (Order Granting Motion to Dismiss, p. 4, 4/9/2009); Chipman v. Chelan County, EWGMHB Case No. 05-1-0002 (Order of Dismissal, pp. 4-6, 1/31/2006); Cole v. Pierce County, CPSGMHB Case No. 96-3-0009c (Final Decision and Order, pp. 9-10, 7/31/1996). In other words, these cases found that a jurisdiction is not out of compliance with the requirements of the GMA, and thus not subject to board jurisdiction, when it does not adopt a proposed amendment during the annual review process.

In Stafne, the court was presented with this issue and stated as follows:

County and city councils have legislative discretion in deciding to amend or not amend their comprehensive plans. Absent a duty to adopt a comprehensive plan amendment pursuant to the GMA or other law, neither the board nor a court can grant relief (that is, order a legislative discretionary act). In other words, any remedy is not through the judicial branch. Instead, the remedy is to file a proposal at the County's next annual docketing cycle or mandatory review or through the political or election process.

Stafne, 174 Wn.2d at 38. In reaching this conclusion, the court specifically agreed with the boards' determinations in *Cole v. Pierce County*, CPSGMHB No. 96-3-0009c (FDO, 7/31/1996) and *SR 9/US 2 LLC v. Snohomish County*, CPSGMHB No. 08-3-0004 (Order on Motion to Dismiss, 3/16/2009).

CNW's contention that the Court of Appeals decision is in conflict with *King County* because it did not recognize that the GMA imposes a duty on a county to designate MRLs is wholly unwarranted. While the court did not address the untimely argument regarding a "continuing" duty to designate that CNW improperly asserts, the court did explicitly recognize the County's duties under the GMA:

As CNW notes, the GMA sets out specific procedures for accomplishing its goal of maintaining and enhancing natural resource-based industries. First, the Act requires cities and counties to designate 'where appropriate . . . [m]ineral resource lands that are not already characterized by urban growth and that have long-term significance for the extraction of minerals.' RCW 36.70A.170(1)(c). Next, RCW 36.70A.060(1) requires cities and counties within its scope to 'adopt development regulations . . . to assure the conservation of agricultural, forest, and mineral resource lands designated under RCW 36.70A.170.' The GMA further requires that cities and counties operating under its strictures periodically reviewed their mineral resource designations in light of new information concerning mineral deposits and certain new or modified model regulations. RCW 36.70A.131.

Appendix A, p. 5. The schedule for these periodic required reviews is found in RCW 36.70A.130(4) and (5).

In support of its argument regarding the GMA duty to designate MRLs, CNW relies on *Spokane Rock Products, Inc. v. Spokane County*, EWGMHB Case No. 02-1-0003 (Final Decision and Order, 2/19/2002). This and all of the other board cases cited on p. 17 of the Petition for Review are in the context of initial designation of MRLs, not the annual

review of amendments. When faced with the issue in the context of the annual review of amendments, the Eastern Board, the same board that decided *Spokane Rock Products, Inc.*, refused to consider a denial of a request for MRL designation because the GMA did not require the amendment. *Chipman v. Chelan County*, EWGMHB Case No. 05-1-0002 (Order of Dismissal, p. 4-6, 1/31/2006).

After describing a county's duties under the GMA, the Court of Appeals went on to discuss the process after a comprehensive plan is in place, as it is in this case:

Once a comprehensive plan is in place, the GMA gives effect to the plan's provisions by requiring that '[e]ach county and city that is required or chooses to plan under RCW 36.70A.040 shall perform its activities . . . in conformity with its comprehensive plan.' RCW 36.70A.120. This provision thus turns the failure to conform to the comprehensive plan into a GMA violation that the Board could remedy.

Appendix A, p. 8. The court then carefully analyzed the County's plan and found that there was no duty under the plan to designate CNW's property, even if it met the designation criteria. In addition, the Court of Appeals found that the process for amendments in WCC 2.160 bolstered this conclusion. Appendix A, p. 11. Finally, the court noted that the holding in *Stafne* directly supported its decision. Appendix A, p. 8, FN 3.

Nowhere in its discussion did the Court of Appeals state that "the natural resource goal is only one of 13 GMA goals with no greater priority than any other," as contended by CNW. Instead, as a matter of explaining the purpose of the designation criteria in the County's comprehensive plan, the court noted that there is flexibility in the GMA's mandate to designate resource land "where appropriate," and, at the time of designation, this flexibility gives jurisdictions the room to reconcile the easily conflicting goals of enhancing natural resource-based industries and protecting the environment and quality of life." Appendix A, p. 10. This is an accurate description of the GMA's requirements and is in no way in conflict with the decision in *King County*.

The currently compliant comprehensive plan requires the county council to consider life quality and environmental concerns not only when a permit to mine is issued, but also at the designation stage. As the Court of Appeals aptly noted:

The goals and policies of the comprehensive plan recognize the importance of MRLs, state the clear goal and policy of fostering them and the industries they support, but also make clear that this must be accomplished in a way compatible with the protection of other resources and the quality of life. . . These goals and policies create the breathing space of judgment, not the chains of duty.

Appendix A, p. 9. Significantly, the language in GMA planning goal 10 (Environment) requires that, in adopting its comprehensive plan

provisions, a jurisdiction must affirmatively act to "[p]rotect the environment and enhance the state's high quality of life." RCW 36.70A.020(10).

CNW summarily dismisses the multitude of community concerns in the present case, downplaying the significance of an MRL designation and arguing that these concerns will all be addressed by environmental review at the permit stage. While MRL designation is not a permit to mine, it is a necessary first step for mining to occur. Once property is designated, the permit to mine is issued through an administrative approval process, with limited opportunity for public involvement. *See*, WCC 20.73.130; WCC 20.84.235.² While neighboring property owners are notified and given a 15 day period to submit written comments, the permit is issued administratively, without a public hearing. *Id*.

Comprehensive Plan Policy 8P-1, upon which CNW places great significance, is aspirational, not mandatory, as it states that the council should *seek* to designate a 50 year supply of commercially significant construction aggregate supply but only *to the extent compatible with protection of water resources, agricultural lands, and forest lands*. AR 855 (emphasis added). The County's obligation under the GMA is not,

² WCC provisions can be found at www.codepublishing.com/wa/whatcomcounty/.

and never has been, to designate all property with known mineral resources or all property that meets the County's designation criteria. Instead, the County is required by the GMA to designate that amount of mineral resource land capable of producing minerals at commercially sustainable levels for at least the twenty-year planning period. *See* WAC 365-190-030(11).

CNW has not offered any credible argument that the present case conflicts with *King County* in any way. Even if CNW had timely argued that the County had an inherent "continuing" duty to designate during its annual review process, such an argument certainly does not find support in *King County*.

The irony of this case is that the County had no obligation to even docket this request. Simply because the Council chose to allow CNW to have its request vetted, it does not make sense that it lost all discretion to deny it. In addition, despite arguments to the contrary, the mineral resources on CNW's property are not threatened by the Council's decision in this case. With its existing Commercial Forestry designation, this land will remain protected from development that would interfere with any future extraction of the mineral resources. *See*, WCC 20.43.

2. The petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

This case is not about a local jurisdiction's duties to designate MRLs under the GMA. That was the issue when County first adopted its MRL designations and it is an issue when the County is required to periodically review those designations. Rather, this case is about what Whatcom County's duties are in considering a request for designation during the annual review process under its unique comprehensive plan and code provisions. While the decision affects certain citizens in Whatcom County, it certainly does not have the widespread effect necessary to find that it is of sufficient public interest to warrant Supreme Court review.

Moreover, this case does not require the creation of new law; it simply involves the application of already settled principles of law. Three separate tribunals have applied the existing law and, without exception, they have upheld the County's decision, finding that there was no mandate to approve CNW's request under the GMA, the comprehensive plan, or the county code.

Even when faced with competing, but justifiable perspectives on an issue, if the decision is a legislative one and there is no mandate under the GMA or other law to adopt the amendment, then deference must be given to the choice made by the legislative body. Here, the County Council

exercised its discretion honestly, consistent with its own comprehensive plan and code provisions, and upon due consideration of the facts before it.

The Board, the Thurston County Superior Court, and the Court of Appeals all properly honored that decision.

F. CONCLUSION

Based on the preceding analysis and the Court of Appeals opinion, the Respondent respectfully requests that CNW's Petition for Review be denied.